
1 
 

Cabinet 
 

Man Cyfarfod 
Siambr y Cyngor - Neuadd y Sir, 
Llandrindod, Powys 
 
Dyddiad y Cyfarfod 
Dydd Mawrth, 23 Mai 2023 
 
Amser y Cyfarfod 
10.00 am 
 
I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch â 

 

 
 

Neuadd Y Sir 
Llandrindod 

Powys 
LD1 5LG 

Stephen Boyd 
01597 826374 
steve.boyd@powys.gov.uk 

 Dyddiad Cyhoeddi 
18/07/23 

 
Mae croeso i’r rhai sy’n cymryd rhan ddefnyddio’r Gymraeg. Os hoffech chi siarad 
Cymraeg yn y cyfarfod, gofynnwn i chi roi gwybod i ni erbyn hanner dydd ddau 
ddiwrnod cyn y cyfarfod 
 

AGENDA 
  

1.  YMDDIHEURIADAU  
 
Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.  
 
  

2.  COFNODION  
 
Awdurdodi’r Cadeirydd i arwyddo bod cofnodion y cyfarfod diwethaf a gynhaliwyd ar 
9 Mai 2023 yn gofnod cywir ohono. 
(Tudalennau 1 - 2) 
  

3.  DATGANIADAU O DDIDDORDEB  
 
Derbyn datganiadau o ddiddordeb oddi wrth Aelodau sy’n berthnasol i eitemau sydd 
i’w hystyried ar yr agenda.  
 
  

4.  WELSHPOOL C.IN.W PRIMARY SCHOOL PROJECT VIREMENT  
 
Ystyried adroddiad gan y Cynghorydd Sir Pete Roberts, Aelod Cabinet ar Gyfer 
Powys Sy’n Dysgu.  
 
  

5.  BIODIVERSITY AND RESILIENCE OF ECOSYSTEMS DUTY, SECTION 6 

Pecyn Dogfennau Cyhoeddus



OF THE ENVIRONMENT (WALES) ACT 2016 - 2022 REPORT  
 
Ystyried adroddiad gan y Cynghorydd Sir Jackie Charlton Aelod Cabinet ar gyfer 
Powys Wyrddach.  
(Tudalennau 3 - 28) 
  

6.  CORPORATE SAFEGUARDING BOARD ACTIVITY REPORT  
 
Ystyried adroddiad oddi wrth y Bwrdd Diogelu Corfforaethol.  
(Tudalennau 29 - 34) 
  

7.  PENDERFYNIADAU DIRPRWYEDIG A WNAED ERS Y CYFARFOD 
DIWETHAF  

 
Nodi’r penderfyniadau dirprwyedig a wnaed ers y cyfarfod diwethaf.  
(Tudalennau 35 - 36) 
  

8.  BLAENRAGLEN WAITH  
 
Rhoi ystyriaeth i flaenraglen waith y Cabinet.  
(Tudalennau 37 - 40) 
 
 
 



Cabinet 9 May 2023  
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CABINET HELD AT  COUNTY HALL AND ON 
ZOOM ON TUESDAY, 9 MAY 2023 

 
PRESENT 
County Councillor J Gibson-Watt (Chair) 
 
County Councillors J Berriman, J Charlton, R Church, S Cox, S C Davies, 
M J Dorrance, S McNicholas, P Roberts, D Selby and D A Thomas 
 
In attendance: County Councillors J Brignell-Thorp (Cabinet Assistant) and A Davies 
 

1.  APOLOGIES  
 

Apologies for absence were received from County Councillors A Kennerley 
(Cabinet Assistant) and from the Interim Chief Executive and the Director of 
Social Services and Housing. 

 
2.  MINUTES  

 
The Leader was authorised to sign the minutes of the last meeting held on 18th 
April 2023 as a correct record. 

 
3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest reported. 

 
4.  STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER REPORT QUARTER 4 2022/2023  

 
Cabinet considered the Strategic Risk Register report for the fourth quarter of 
2022/23 which included a recommendation to de-escalate PCC0005 from the 
Strategic Risk Register to EMT’s risk register. 
 
The Cabinet Member for a Connected Powys acknowledged the risk in Planning 
non-compliance with Welsh Government planning enforcement objectives which 
was being dealt with at service level.  
 
The leader of the opposition asked whether schools reserves should be included 
on the Strategic Risk Register and was advised that this was being dealt with at 
service level. Oversight was maintained by the Section 151 officer and routinely 
reported to Cabinet and there was also oversight by scrutiny. The Section 151 
Officer had provided a response to the Governance and Audit Committee which 
had previously expressed concern when risks ED0022 and CS0081 were de-
escalated. 
 

RESOLVED that Cabinet notes the current Strategic Risk 
Register, and is satisfied with progress against mitigating 
actions for quarter 4, and approves the de-escalation of 
PCC0005 (detailed under point 3.5) from the Strategic Risk 
Register. 

 
5.  POWYS PUBLIC SERVICE BOARD WELL-BEING PLAN  

 

Tudalen 1

2



Cabinet 9 May 2023 
 

Cabinet was asked to endorse the Powys Public Service Board Well-Being Plan 
prior to it being signed off by the PSB on 6th June. The plan had been considered 
by Scrutiny and their suggestions had been incorporated into the plan. 
 
 RESOLVED that the Well Being Plan is approved and 

supported by Council, ahead of formal approval at Powys 
Public Service Board. 

 
6.  DELEGATED DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE THE LAST MEETING  

 
The delegated decisions taken by Cabinet members since the last meeting were 
noted. Cabinet welcomed the decision taken by the Cabinet Member for a Fairer 
Powys and the Cabinet Member for a Connected Powys to transfer Gungrog 
Church in Wales Infant and Nursery School to Housing Services for £250,000 to 
enable the development of secure, affordable housing. 

 
7.  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME  

 
The forward work programme was noted. 

 
8.  EXEMPT ITEMS  

 
RESOLVED to exclude the public for the following item of 
business on the grounds that there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information under category 3 of The Local 
Authorities (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 
2007). 

 
 

9.  GCRE  
 

Cabinet considered the confidential report of the Executive Director (Economy & 
Environment) and Head of Finance (Section 151 Officer). Cabinet was advised 
that the report had been seen and supported by the Governance and Audit 
Committee. 
 
  RESOLVED to approve the recommendation in the report. 

 
 

County Councillor J Gibson-Watt (Chair) 

Tudalen 2



 
CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL. 

 
CABINET EXECUTIVE 

23rd May 2023 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: County Councillor Jackie Charlton 
Portfolio Holder for a Greener Powys 

  
REPORT TITLE: Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems duty, Section 

6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 – 2022 report 
  
 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Decision 

 
1. Purpose  
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to demonstrate the ways in which the 
Council is meeting its legal duties under the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, in 
the period between December 2019 and December 2022. This aligns with the 
Council’s Corporate Improvement plan aims of ‘Stronger, Fairer, Greener.’ 
 
2. Background 
 
1.2  Under section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, Powys County 

Council (as a public authority) must seek to maintain and enhance 
biodiversity in the exercise of its functions, and in so doing promote the 
resilience of ecosystems, so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of 
those functions. 

 
1.3 To demonstrate compliance with these duties, the Council must publish 
two key documents; these are: 

• A plan, setting out what the Council proposes to do to comply with 
these duties (the ‘Section 6 plan’); and 

• A report, setting out what the Council has done to comply with the 
duties under section 6 (the ‘Section 6 report.’)  

 
1.4  Further to the Cabinet decision on 25th May 2021, the Section 6 plan 
was integrated into the Council’s reporting against the Corporate Plan. A 
Section 6 report was completed in 2019 and also accepted on 25th May 2021. 
Powys County Council has just adopted a new Corporate Plan in 2023. 

 
1.5  The Section 6 report must be updated every three years, to set out the 
ways in which the duties under section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 
have been addressed in the period since the previous report.  

 
1.6  Accordingly, an updated Section 6 report has been produced and is at 

appendix A. It sets out the actions that have been taken towards the 
Council’s duties to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of its 
functions in the period from 2019-22. 

Tudalen 3

5



3. Advice 
 
3.1 It is proposed that the content of the Section 6 report at appendix A be 

accepted as a reflection of the work carried out by the Council in the 
period from 2019-2022, to maintain and enhance biodiversity. It sets out 
the progress made during that period, opportunities and challenges faced.  
 

3.1 If accepted, a summary of the report will be published on the Council 
website, to be accessible for the public. That will complete the actions 
required to meet the Council’s duty to review its Section 6 report by the 
end of 2022. 
 

3.2 The Cabinet is asked to note that the work set out in the Section 6 report 
contributes towards partnership delivery of the Powys Nature Recovery 
Action Plan and against the Council’s declaration of a Nature Emergency. 
The Powys Nature Recovery Action Plan is a forward looking partnership 
plan that has been adopted by the Council; full detail is available on the 
Council's website at https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/2573/Powys-Nature-
Recovery-Action-Plan  

 
4. Resource Implications 
 
4.1 The report is for information and monitoring of the Council’s compliance 

with its legal duty to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of 
its functions, so has no resource implications in itself. 
 

4.1 Delivery of the initiatives set out in the report does have cost implications, 
being dependent on the project. Many have been funded through external 
grants – particularly the Local Places for Nature grant – or through 
changes to ‘business as usual’ practices. As such, any up-front costs have 
been met without placing additional demands on core Council budgets. 
 

4.2  Services have committed to enhancements that can either be maintained 
through existing revenue budgets and staff, or through support from 
community groups. 
 

4.2 The knowledge of specialist officers is key to underpinning ongoing 
delivery against the duties under section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 
2016. External grant funding remains in place for the role of Biodiversity 
officer. Additional external funding has been secured for a Nature 
Recovery Officer post until December 2024. As such, the post costs are 
currently being funded without any impact on core revenue budgets.  
 

4.3 The cost for the Biodiversity and Nature Recovery officer posts (1.6FTE in 
total) is approximately £65,540 for 2023-24 to cover salary, NI and 
pension. These are being fully funded by the Shared Prosperity Fund and 
Local Places for Nature grants, as are overheads such as training, travel 
etc. The capital project costs are aligned with the budget made available 
under the Local Places for Nature grant, which was £232,000 for 2022-23. 
 

Tudalen 4

https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/2573/Powys-Nature-Recovery-Action-Plan
https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/2573/Powys-Nature-Recovery-Action-Plan


5. Legal implications 
 
5.1 Legal : The Council has a statutory duty to review its section 6 report every 

three years to demonstrate the way in which it is meeting its responsibility 
to seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of its 
functions. Accepting the report at Appendix A would address that legal 
requirement.  
 

5.2  The Head of Legal Services & the Monitoring Officer has commented as 
follows: “ I note the legal comment and have nothing to add to the report 

 
6. Data Protection 
 
6.1 The Section 6 report reflects the activities carried out by Council Services 

to enhance the quality of the environment. No information about 
individuals is included; as such, it does not require the processing of 
personal data. 

 
 
7.  Comment from local member(s) 
 
7.1 Not applicable - this report reflects an approach to monitoring and 

reporting on county wide activities to meet a legal duty. It is expected that 
Local Members would have opportunity to comment on individual schemes 
to maintain or enhance biodiversity in their Ward, as they arise. 

 
8.   Impact Assessment 
 
8.1 An impact assessment is not required; this report is for monitoring and 
demonstration of compliance with the Council’s legal duties under Section 6 of 
the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  
 
9. Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that: 
 
9.1 The contents of the December 2022 revision of the Section 6 report 

(appendix A) be accepted as reflecting the actions taken to maintain or 
enhance biodiversity between 2019 and 2022. 

 
 
Contact Officer: Sian Barnes 
Tel:   01597 827595 
Email:                       sian.barnes@powys.gov.uk 
 
Head of Service:     Matt Perry 
 
Corporate Director:  Nigel Brinn  

 

Tudalen 5



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



                                                                     

 

 

 

Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016 Part 1 - Section 6 

The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty 
Report 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 7



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

2 
 

Contents 
CONTENTS ........................................................................................................................ 2 

1. INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................ 3 

Key plans and policies relevant to implementation of the s.6 duty ................................................... 4 
Performance indicators, monitoring arrangements and governance ................................................ 5 

2. SUMMARY HIGHLIGHTS AND EXAMPLES OF BIODIVERSITY ACTIONS ............................. 5 

3. ACTIVITY TO CONSERVE AND ENHANCE BIODIVERSITY AND ECOSYSTEM RESILIENCE ..... 6 

NRAP Objective 1: Engage and support participation and understanding to embed biodiversity 
throughout decision making at all levels. ........................................................................................... 6 
NRAP Objective 2: Safeguard species and habitats of principal importance and improve their 
management. ...................................................................................................................................... 7 
NRAP Objective 3: Increase the resilience of our natural environment by restoring degraded habitats 
and habitat creation.......................................................................................................................... 11 
NRAP Objective 4: Tackle key pressures on species and habitats. ................................................... 17 
NRAP Objective 5: Improve our evidence, understanding and monitoring. .................................... 20 
NRAP Objective 6: Put in place a framework of governance and support for delivery. ................... 21 

4. REVIEW OF S.6 DUTY IMPLEMENTATION TO DATE AND NEXT STEPS. ........................... 22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 8



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

3 
 

1. Introduction 
Powys County Council (PCC) is the largest local authority by area in Wales covering 5,180 km2, 
including 890 km2 within the Bannau Brycheiniog National Park. It is a predominantly rural county and 
the most sparsely populated in Wales with only 25.6 people per km2. 1  Agriculture and forestry 
comprise the main land use and play a major role in the local economy supported by tourism and the 
public sector 2. The county supports a diverse range of wildlife but, as with other parts of Wales, it 
suffered from significant declines in the quality and range of habitats and the abundance and 
distribution of species during the 20th century3 ,4 . It is recognised that biodiversity underpins all 
ecological systems (ecosystems) and consequently, there are implications for the health and resilience 
of Powys’ ecosystems and the natural resources upon which we depend. 

The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 introduced an enhanced biodiversity and resilience of ecosystems 
duty (the Section 6 or s.6 duty) for all Welsh local authorities. In the exercising of its functions the 
council ‘must seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity… and in so doing promote the resilience of 
ecosystems’. Specifically, the council must take account of the diversity between and within 
ecosystems, the connections between and within them, their scale, condition, and adaptability. 

In delivering its s.6 duty the council must have regard to national lists of species and habitats 
considered as being ‘of principal importance for the purpose of maintaining and enhancing biodiversity 
in relation to Wales’, the State of Natural Resources Report (SoNaRR) and the Area Statement for Mid-
Wales.  

The council also has a duty under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG 
Act) to carry out sustainable development and to publish and fulfil well-being objectives that 
contribute towards each of the Act’s seven well-being goals. The same Act requires the council’s 
membership on the Powys Public Service Board (PSB). The PSB’s duty is to ‘improve the economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being of its area by contributing to the achievement of the well-
being goals.’ This is to be achieved through delivery and review of ‘Towards 2040, the Powys Well-
being Plan’ prepared following local assessments. 

The seven well-being goals guide work towards the improvement of the social, economic, and cultural 
well-being of Wales. Public bodies must work towards all the goals, not just one or two. In 
demonstrating the sustainable development principle, which seeks to ensure that the needs of the 
present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs, the 
council should demonstrate five ways of working: 1) consider the long-term, 2) prevent problems from 
occurring or getting worse, 3) integrate the council’s well-being objectives with the well-being goals, 

 
1 Source: https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population 
2  Source: https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-
Work/Employment/Jobs/Whole-Workforce/workplaceemployment-by-welshlocalareas-industry  
3 Our Partnership with Nature: A Local Biodiversity Action Plan for Powys (2002), Powys biodiversity Partnership.  
4 The State of Natural Resources Report (SoNaRR): Assessment of the Sustainable Management 
of Natural Resources. Technical Report. Chapter 3. Summary of extent, condition and trends of natural 
resources and ecosystems in Wales (2016). Natural Resources Wales. 

Tudalen 9



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

4 
 

its other objectives and those of other public bodies, 4) work collaboratively within the council and 
with others and 5) ensure representation and involvement of others in achievement of the goals.   

In October 2022, PCC declared a ‘nature emergency’, in response to UK wildlife declines. This would 
contribute towards the s.6 duty required by the local authority5. 

PCC’s wide range of functions encompass activities connected directly to biodiversity, such as 
maintenance and management of buildings, grounds and land, design of new infrastructure and 
influence over and regulation of wider land management, for example, through development and land 
drainage controls. Procurement of goods and services and delivery of education services are examples 
of functions indirectly connected to biodiversity but where actions are still capable of exerting an 
impact. The council’s role in supporting individuals, families, and communities to live healthy, active 
and socially inclusive lives also has relevance to biodiversity, through education and awareness raising 
and utilising local natural resources to support social cohesion and deliver health and well-being 
benefits. 

To comply with the s.6 duty PCC aims ultimately to embed the consideration of biodiversity and 
ecosystems into its early thinking and business planning. This includes policies, plans, programmes, 
and projects in addition to its day-to-day activities. Compliance with the s.6 duty will help maximise 
the council’s contribution towards delivery of the well-being goals. 

Key plans and policies relevant to implementation of the s.6 duty 
 “Stronger, Fairer, Greener.” Powys County Council’s vision is for: a stronger Powys with well-

connected and economically resilient communities; a fairer and more equal Powys where 
residents’ voices will be heard and shape priorities; a greener Powys that considers 
sustainability and biodiversity to secure the long-term future of the county. A new Corporate 
Governance Plan has been adopted by the council. 

 
 Towards 2040, the Powys Well-being Plan. Powys Public Service Board’s long-term plan to 

improve well-being in Powys. Vision 2025 contributes directly towards delivery of its four local 
objectives and, in turn, achievement of the WBFG Act’s seven well-being goals. 
 

 Replacement Powys Local Development Plan 2022-2037. The Replacement LDP will set out the 
council’s strategy for sustainable development and use of land in Powys (excluding the Bannau 
Brycheiniog National Park).  

 
 Delivering the Vision: Powys Area Plan. The Regional Partnership Board’s joint strategy for 

delivery of improved health, well-being, and social care across Powys. 
 

 Nature emergency 2022-2027: “A demonstration of the council’s commitment to protecting 
and rejuvenating Powys’ natural environment” 5. 
 

 Red Kite Climate Vision & Strategy 2021-2030. Powys County Council’s strategy for achieving 
carbon net zero by 20306. 

 
5  Notice of Motion – Nature Emergency, Powys County Council. Agenda item - Notice of Motion - Nature 
Emergency Cyngor Sir Powys County Council (moderngov.co.uk) 
6 Red Kite Climate Vision & Strategy. Powys Red Kite Climate Strategy (amazonaws.com). 

Tudalen 10



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

5 
 

Performance indicators, monitoring arrangements and governance. 
Information capture for this report has been gathered directly through conversations within service 
areas. Progress will also be captured through the reporting and monitoring of services areas’ 
Integrated Business Plans (IBPs) and the corporate improvement plan (CIP). Performance monitored 
against agreed indicators will take place in accordance with the PCC’s Performance Management and 
Quality Assurance Framework. The framework illustrates how IBPs link to delivery of the CIP, the 
Powys Well-being Plan and ultimately the seven well-being goals.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2. Summary highlights and examples of biodiversity actions  
 

 The council considers important species and habitats when planning major works.  
 The council was a delivery partner in the Local Nature Partnership Cymru project and has 

used this funding to employ a Biodiversity Officer. 
 The Powys Nature Partnership, of which the council is a part, has reformed and meets 

regularly. 
 The council has delivered several greenspace enhancements through the Local Places for 

Nature Scheme. 
 The council has used grant funding to cut and collect machinery to improve road verge and 

amenity grassland management to benefit biodiversity.  
 The council has adopted and published the Powys Nature Recovery Action Plan. 
 The council is working in partnership with the Wildlife Trusts and Canal and River Trust to 

deliver the Canals, Communities and Wellbeing project which includes biodiversity 
enhancements to the canal network in Powys.  

 The council has now declared a nature emergency committing to further protect the 
environment throughout its work. 
 
 

Tudalen 11



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

6 
 

3. Activity to conserve and enhance biodiversity and ecosystem 
resilience 
The actions described below are aligned with the six objectives in Welsh Government’s The Nature 
Recovery Action Plan for Wales (2015) (NRAP). These have been identified to address the issues driving 
biodiversity decline and to support its recovery. 

 

NRAP Objective 1: Engage and support participation and understanding to embed 
biodiversity throughout decision making at all levels. 
 

Engagement with service areas across the council to raise awareness of the s.6 
biodiversity duty.  
Through participation in the Local Nature Partnerships (LNP) Cymru project the council have been 
hosting a LNP Coordinator/Biodiversity Officer funded by the project. This Officer undertook a 
biodiversity engagement exercise in 2021 to raise awareness of biodiversity and the enhanced s.6 duty 
and the Powys Nature Partnership across the Council. Senior Management Teams were informed 
about the duty and areas of existing good practice identified. Opportunities for improvements to 
current practices and future projects were also highlighted for potential inclusion in work 
programmes.  

Service areas with responsibility for land management were aware of the s.6 duty. However, Services 
more indirectly connected to biodiversity were not aware of it. As a result, the Biodiversity Officer 
worked with Communications Services to create a video and staff newsletter, which was sent out to 
all staff, to raise awareness of the s.6 duty across all service areas. As part of this, Communications 
Services also created an online post-it note board so staff could post ideas of how they already are or 
how they could take steps to maintain and enhance biodiversity to encourage good practice.   

A Green Network will be established in 2023 in response to the declaration of both nature and climate 
emergencies in Powys. The aim of the network is to allow staff from across the authority to discuss 
any projects that might consider or enhance biodiversity or reduce carbon emissions. The Green 
Network will champion this work across Powys and encourage others to incorporate s.6 duty into their 
work. 

A training module for staff and County Councillors is in development to improve nature literacy and 
raise biodiversity awareness. At this stage the module will not be mandatory staff training but will be 
encouraged for all staff.  

Updating the Corporate Improvement Plan to include the s.6 duty. 
The Council does not have a standalone Section 6 Plan. Instead, it is integrated into the reporting 
against the Corporate Improvement Plan, via a specific objective to comply with the s.6 duty. In 2022-
23, the following  activities are reflected as measures to meet this, as follows: 

Tudalen 12



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

7 
 

 We will implement the greenspace improvement Strategy for Housing Services sites, making 
use of grants, other external funds, and core Housing Revenue Account funds.  

 We will develop Woodland Management Plans for council owned sites.  

 We will develop 1 project per year to enhance biodiversity on the council estate, making use 
of grant funding. 

Constraints to achievement of NRAP Objective. 
Lack of available resource has constrained progress to maintain and enhance biodiversity. Many 
Service areas were aware of and wanted to make changes to comply with the duty, but the main 
barriers were lack of resources within their area and lack of staff with biodiversity knowledge to 
support them. Most biodiversity actions rely on external funding being obtained, but this also requires 
significant resource to apply for funding. There is a need for ongoing training and support to ensure 
both Council staff and Members can implement the s.6 duty appropriately and with confidence.  

 

NRAP Objective 2: Safeguard species and habitats of principal importance and 
improve their management. 
Complying with wildlife legislation and work to safeguard protected and 
important species and habitats. 
Expert advice and guidance is sought by Council Services when delivering their work, to identify 
potential impacts on species and habitats of principal importance. Licences and assents for works 
potentially impacting on protected species and habitats are obtained from Welsh Government and 
Natural Resources Wales, respectively, when required. Measures are put in place to avoid or mitigate 
potentially adverse impacts arising from Council activities. Powys County Council hosts ecologists 
within Planning Services and the Engineering Design Team. These ecologists act as consultants for all 
corners of the Authority on environmental guidance. They also offer advice to partner authorities and 
other organisations working closely with PCC, such as the North and Mid Wales Trunk Road Agent. 

Managing Powys’ network of Roadside Verge Nature Reserves and other verges 
to benefit biodiversity.  
There are approximately 5500km of roads in Powys7 offering a good opportunity for management in 
linen with the s.6 duty. PCC continues to manage a network of over 100 Roadside Verge Nature 
Reserves (RVNRs) across the county. Annual monitoring of RVNRs in partnership with Powys’ three 
Wildlife Trusts ceased in 2015 following severe budgetary pressures but they continue to be managed 
appropriately following advice from the Wildlife Trusts. A reassessment of the RVNRs would be 
beneficial to inform future management; this is something that has been explored and will be 
discussed further in 2023. We are continuing to alter the verge management regime across the 
network following Plantlife's Good Verge Guide8. This includes purchasing cut and collect machinery 
in 2021 – Amazone Profihopper 1500 Smartline – using a Welsh Government Local Places for Nature 

 
7 Powys County Council, Road Verge Biodiversity: Road Verge Biodiversity - Powys County Council 
8 Plantlife (2021) Good Verge Guide: https://www.plantlife.org.uk/uk/our-work/publications/good-verge-guide-
different-approach-managing-our-waysides-and-verges  

Tudalen 13



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

8 
 

grant allowing us to start using cut and collect management on some of our grassland verges to 
increase plant diversity. This management has been used on verges in areas with high rates of urban 
deprivation, such as Newtown and Welshpool, to increase access to nature. 

Highways Services have also carried out cut and collect work as a contractor along Trunk Roads. For 
example, a stretch of the A483 at Llanbister has had cut and collect management and has been seeded 
with various wildflowers. Although, the land is not owned by PCC, the work on roadside verges 
increases connectivity of the RVNRs across the county. 

Highways Services have also been supporting several community groups and town and community 
councils who wanted to improve biodiversity on their urban verges. For example, Highways Services 
have been working closely with Presteigne and Norton Community Council to adjust the timing and 
frequency of verge cutting there, after the Community Council obtained funding to re-seed some of 
their verges with native wildflowers.  

Tudalen 14



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

9 
 

 

FIGURE 2.1: CUT & COLLECT MACHINE USED BY HIGHWAYS TO MANAGE ROADSIDE VERGE NATURE RESERVES 
(RVNRS). 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 15



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

10 
 

 

FIGURE 2.2: A VERGE IN NEWTOWN THAT THE CUT & COLLECT MACHINE HAS BEEN USED ON BEFORE SEEDING WITH A 
WILDFLOWER MIX. 

 

FIGURE 2.3: EXAMPLE OF PLANT DIVERSITY GENERATED BY CUT AND COLLECT MANAGEMENT. 

Tudalen 16



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

11 
 

Constraints to achievement of NRAP Objective 2. 
Sufficient resources will continue to be required to ensure appropriate expertise and information is 
available to support officers, both in complying with legislation and in taking advantage of 
opportunities to enhance biodiversity. Capacity to undertake monitoring and evaluation of RVNRs is 
extremely limited and currently there is no funding available to support this work. This could be 
achieved to some degree through partnership working but this still requires sufficient resource. 

Extending cut and collect management across the entire verge network is constrained by highway 
safety requirements, the length of the network, and the costs associated with collecting and removing 
arisings from the verges. Currently, sacrificial areas of verges are being created where arisings are 
being left. These provide some benefit to wildlife by acting as ‘habitat piles’ for reptiles and 
amphibians. It is not possible to create habitat piles on every verge, particularly on urban verges, and 
so the Council would have to dispose of the arisings from these verges. Whilst money has been saved 
by reducing the frequency of verge cutting over the past several years, there are significant costs 
involved with transporting and disposing of the arisings appropriately. As a result, we are not currently 
able to use cut and collect on all verges. Additional resources would be required to develop a practical, 
and cost-effective scheme to dispose of the arisings. There is the added issue of fire safety. 
Increasingly hot periods during the summer have led to concerns around the potential of longer 
vegetation on verges to ignite and spread wildfires. 

 

NRAP Objective 3: Increase the resilience of our natural environment by restoring 
degraded habitats and habitat creation. 
Development of Resilient Ecological Networks. 
Resilient Ecological Networks are a fundamental part of the Powys Nature Recovery Action Plan 
(PNRAP)9, developed with the Powys Nature Partnership, and now adopted by PCC. The overarching 
principle of the NRAP is to create ecological networks that are ‘bigger, better, and more joined up’ as 
recommended by the Lawton Review. 

PCC also works with the Local Wildlife Sites committee. The committee includes members from the 
local authority, Natural Resources Wales, and the three Wildlife Trusts found in Powys. The committee 
meets to review sites for classification as Local Wildlife Sites in the hope of expanding the ecological 
resilient networks between nature reserves. 

Continuing to manage Lake Park Local Nature Reserve (LNR) to benefit people 
and wildlife. 
Management of the Lake Park LNR must consider both people and wildlife. The site is very popular 
with locals and tourists so the area must be kept relatively tidy whilst ensuring that sufficient habitat 
is present for wildlife. For example, reed beds are managed sympathetically to nature based on advice 
from local expert knowledge. Gaps are also left between sections of reed bed to create natural 

 
9 Powys Nature Partnership, Powys Nature Recovery Action Plan (NRAP). Available from: Powys Nature Recovery 
Action Plan - Powys County Council 

Tudalen 17



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

12 
 

partitions for territorial reed warblers. Mitigating for bird species benefits people in turn as many visit 
the LNR to watch and photograph birds. Further structures have been put in place for people to stand 
over the water and observe wildlife. At the end of 2022, several hundred native trees were sourced 
from the Woodland Trust for planting next to the SSSI adjacent to the lake to extend the area of 
woodland. 

 

FIGURE 3.1: REED BEDS AT THE LAKE PARK LOCAL NATURE RESERVE.  

Tudalen 18



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

13 
 

 

FIGURE 3.2: A PLATFORM FOR PEOPLE TO WATCH WILDLIFE AT THE LAKE PARK LOCAL NATURE RESERVE. 

Cemetery grassland management. 
In 2022, a management template was drafted for the management of grasslands within council-owned 
cemeteries10. Burial grounds are an important grassland habitat with the potential to support a wide 
range of biodiversity, such as pollinators. The template outlines a guide for establishing areas of 
wildflower meadow within cemeteries, in areas that are not active burial areas. This will ensure areas 
that visitors use the most will remain accessible to cemetery visitors but also provide a nature-rich 
environment which could be beneficial for mental health. Although the template is not in use yet, a 
cutting regime has been developed that stipulates exactly when grass should be cut and collected to 
maximise the wildflowers on the site.  

There have been trials of wildflower management in several cemeteries across Powys. For example, 
grass at Buttington Cemetery in Welshpool was left to grow longer after daffodils and snowdrops had 
died for the year. An ecological survey was carried out on the site identifying 54 grassland species. 
This will provide valuable baseline data to monitor against if the management template comes into 
practice, contributing towards NRAP objective 5.  

 
10 Collins, E. Powys County Council Environment Protection. 2022. Grassland Management Template. 

Tudalen 19



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

14 
 

 

FIGURE 3.2: GRASSLAND MANAGEMENT FOR WILDFLOWERS ON A COUNCIL BURIAL SITE.  

Creating and enhancing greenspaces for nature. 
The Countryside Access and Recreation team has been delivering greenspace enhancements using 
Local Places for Nature funding from the Welsh Government. This has included creating wildlife and 
sensory gardens at Ystradgynlais Library and at Knighton Community Centre and Library. It has also 
included working in Partnership with the Wildlife Trust of South and West Wales, to carry out habitat 
restoration work on some of their nature reserves. During 2022 the team has supported work to 
develop a new community wildlife garden in Tregynon; the team is also working in partnership with 
Open Newtown to restore woodland habitat in the town and to enhance the nature value of their new 
Hafon yr Afon building. Through the Local Places for Nature fund, the team has been providing grants 
to schools, organisations and community groups wishing to improve urban greenspaces for nature.   

PCC’s Housing Services established the ‘Tree Guardians’ group in Machynlleth. Residents in the Bryn-
y-Gog estate were offered the chance to ‘adopt’ a tree in the estate. The resident would then be 
responsible for managing and taking care of the tree. Guardians were offered training in tree 
management (e.g., pruning) that did not require the use of specialist machinery. This has given 
residents a sense of ownership and responsibility towards maintaining their green spaces. 

Case Study: Knighton Wildlife and Sensory Garden 
The Biodiversity Officer and Countryside and Outdoor Recreation Officer worked with the 
Management Group from the Knighton & District Community Centre and Library, to enhance the 
nature value of their garden area. This included work to extend the garden, create wildflower areas 
for pollinators, and plant a range of shrubs and trees to provide food and shelter for wildlife. As well 
as benefiting wildlife the garden is also being used to grow fruits and vegetables to showcase 
sustainable food production. The new garden includes a green house, a potting shed, seating areas, 
water butts, a pergola walkway, planters, plus all equipment and tools needed to maintain the 
garden. People visiting the community centre and library can now sit and relax in nature and there 
are also opportunities for people to have a go at growing their own fruit and vegetables and to 
volunteer with the gardening club.  

Tudalen 20



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

15 
 

 

FIGURE 3.3. KNIGHTON COMMUNITY AND WILDLIFE GARDEN – HERB GARDEN AND SEATING AREA 

Tudalen 21



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

16 
 

 

FIGURE 3.4. KNIGHTON WILDLIFE AND SENSORY GARDEN - WOODLAND AND WILDFLOWER MEADOW AREAS 

 

 

Tudalen 22



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

17 
 

Constraints to achievement of NRAP Objective 3. 
Management and enhancement of LNR features is highly dependent on external funding, including for 
species and habitat monitoring and evaluation of management practices. The Local Places for Nature 
funding from Welsh Government is targeted at urban areas of deprivation. This is challenging in Powys 
as much of the county is rural, so this funding has been restricted to larger settlements. 

 

NRAP Objective 4: Tackle key pressures on species and habitats. 
Exploring options to reduce herbicide input on the council’s soft estate.  
Highways Operations are exploring alternatives to the use of traditional herbicides. Electric treatment 
of weeds was investigated, but safety became a concern as areas surrounding the target area (rivers, 
streams, pavements) need to be kept well clear to prevent harm to the public. This method was, 
therefore, abandoned. The council is applying for funding to trial ‘Foamstream’ from 2023 in a few 
villages and towns. Foamstream uses a combination of hot water and foam made from vegetable oil 
which controls weeds through heat which is a lower risk to biodiversity and those conducting the work 
and living locally. This combination keeps the spray at a higher temperature than hot water for longer 
resulting in increased ‘cooking’ of weeds. Trials from other councils have found that Foamstream is 
similarly effective as glyphosate herbicides and is more cost-effective 11.  

In the meantime, a more targeted application method has been adopted, reducing the amount of 
herbicide needed and avoiding runoff and spray drift on to other areas. Use on the road network is 
limited as far as practically possible. Common ragwort is only controlled where absolutely necessary 
and is pulled by hand, without the need for herbicides. Japanese Knotweed is more effectively treated 
with use of a knapsack sprayer in some instances, but direct stem-injection is used wherever possible.  

Exploring the use of natural solutions to solve problems. 
PCC hosts the Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB) which ensures that any new development 
larger than 100m2 meets national standards from Welsh Government for Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS). This includes local authority planning and developments by external organisations.  

The Authority continues the shift towards green infrastructure and SuDS, to reduce pressures on 
sewer systems in urban areas. This includes permeable pavement surfaces, swales, and rain gardens 
within housing developments reducing surface run-off alleviating pressures on combined sewers. 
These practices are widespread in Powys especially in large urban areas like Ystradgynlais and 
Newtown. The development of a new Welsh-medium school in Welshpool, Ysgol Gymraeg y Trallwng, 
has incorporated sustainable drainage. Ponds, wetlands, and swales ensure SuDS standards are met 
while providing wetland habitat to increase biodiversity (Figure 4.1).  

 

 
11 Pesticide Action Network UK, Alternative to Herbicides: A Guide for the Amenity Sector. Alternatives-to-
herbicides-a-guide-for-the-amenity-sector.pdf 

Tudalen 23



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

18 
 

 

FIGURE 4.1: CONSTRUCTION OF A POND AT YSGOL GYMRAEG Y TRALLWNG IN 2022. 

SAB are members of the Severn Partnership working with organisations and landowners to adopt 
natural flood management in the Upper Teme Catchment. Leaky dams, scrapes, and ponds, slow the 
flow of water into tributaries whilst providing habitat for species such as waterfowl. SAB have also 
partnered with RSPB Cymru in North Powys to restore peatlands and bogs around Lake Vrynwy 
providing wetland habitat and reducing pressure on the drainage systems in the area. 

The local authority is working with Natural Resources Wales on the ‘Four Rivers for LIFE’ project to 
improve conditions in the river Usk, which is classified as a SSSI. For example, a concrete culvert at 
Heol Senni was identified as blocking gravel from moving freely through the stream (Figure 4.2). 
Planning for an alternative structure is underway which should reduce the build-up of sediment 
allowing the watercourse to flow freely. This will also allow for the migration of fish like salmon and 
trout for which the river gets its SSSI rating.  

Tudalen 24



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

19 
 

 

FIGURE 4.2: THE ACCUMULATION OF SEDIMENT UPSTREAM OF THE TYLE-Y-GARW CULVERT, HEOL SENNI. 

Implementing ‘dark skies lighting’ to reduce pressure on bats and moths. 
Highways Operations have been working with Presteigne and Norton Town Council on the ‘Presteigne 
Dark Skies Project’ to become the first town in Wales and England with dark sky status. Work on the 
project is scheduled to be completed by Christmas 2022. The project aimed to replace LED street 
lighting with orange lights that focus more light towards the ground to reduce light pollution. This 
benefits wildlife such as endangered bats and important pollinating moth species. Energy costs are 
also reduced through this lighting and less carbon dioxide is emitted, lowering the carbon footprint of 
lighting the town. The dark skies status is also expected to bring tourists to the area benefiting the 
local economy.  

Street lighting in Llanfihangel Tal-y-llyn has been modified to reduce impacts on local bat populations. 
The area is on the edge of the Bannau Brycheiniog National Park so consideration had to be given to 
this previously; now guards have been added to street lighting to reduce light pollution. Local bat 
populations have benefited from these changes. 

Highways Operations have received capital funding for a 10-year project to upgrade and improve 
street lighting across Powys. The council will consider implementing further dark skies lighting to 
reduce energy costs, carbon dioxide emissions, and impacts on wildlife.  

Tudalen 25



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

20 
 

 
FIGURE 4.3:  DARK SKIES LIGHTING IN PRESTEIGNE – TAKEN FROM PRESTEIGNE DARK SKIES GROUP (PRESTEIGNE 
DARK SKIES | FACEBOOK). 

River nutrient management. 
PCC has representation on the Nutrient Management Board to manage nutrient levels in catchments 
within the county. The local authority is also working on a network across Wales that is addressing 
nutrient levels countywide, with a focus on phosphorus. The local authority is recruiting a Nutrient 
Management Officer until December 31st, 2024. The main responsibility for the role is to secure water 
quality improvements in Powys’s protected rivers that hold Special Area of Conservation (SAC) status. 

Constraints to achievement of NRAP Objective 4. 
Significant reduction in herbicide use is dependent on the availability of alternative cost-effective 
methods. Japanese knotweed is notoriously difficult to eradicate without the use of chemical control.  

 

NRAP Objective 5: Improve our evidence, understanding and monitoring. 
Maintaining the Service Level Agreement with Powys’ Local Environmental 
Record Centre to ensure the best available ecological data informs decision 
making. 
PCC continues to support the Biodiversity Information Service for Powys and Bannau Brycheiniog 
National Park (BIS) through an annual service level agreement. Officers have access to biodiversity 
data to inform highways works and planning decisions. Data obtained through the council’s work is 
shared with BIS and made publicly available where possible, for example, from LNR and road verge 
surveys. PCC can identify evidence gaps and work in partnership with others to improve availability of 
good quality data. 

Tudalen 26



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

21 
 

Constraints to achievement of NRAP Objective 5. 
Continued financial support for Local Environment Record Centres is essential to develop and manage 
datasets capable of providing a robust evidence base. Support is required from a range of partners, as 
well as the many volunteer experts required to provide and verify data records. PCC has extremely 
limited capability to provide additional support beyond the existing SLA.  

 

NRAP Objective 6: Put in place a framework of governance and support for 
delivery. 
Retaining the member and officer biodiversity champions to promote the s.6 
biodiversity duty across the council. 
The council has retained an officer and member champion for biodiversity since 2006 and 2008 
respectively. The current officer champion is the Head of Service for Highways, Transport and 
Recycling; the current member champion is the Cabinet Member for a Greener Powys.  

Supporting the development of the Mid-Wales Area Statement. 
The Countryside Access and Recreation team has been participating in area statement workshops and 
providing information to NRW to inform development of the Mid-Wales Area Statement and will 
continue to be involved in this work once it restarts.  

Supporting the Powys Nature Partnership and adopting the Powys Nature 
Recovery Action Plan. 
The Council was a partner in the Local Nature Partnerships (LNP) Cymru project, funded by Welsh 
Government’s Enabling Natural Resources and Well-being grant. The funding enabled the recruitment 
of an LNP co-ordinator (the Biodiversity Officer) for the Powys Nature Partnership from 2021 to 2022. 
PCC continues to host the Biodiversity Officer post as this position has been extended until 2023 
through funding from Welsh Government’s Local Places for Nature Scheme. Part of the officer’s role 
was to reinvigorate the Powys Nature Partnership and to develop and seek the council’s adoption of 
the revised Powys Nature Recovery Action Plan (PNRAP)12. The Powys Nature Partnership has been 
meeting regularly since March 2021. The PNRAP was adopted by Powys County Council in March 2022. 
The PNRAP provides the opportunity for PCC to work in partnership to deliver positive outcomes for 
biodiversity in line with the s.6 duty. 

Constraints to achievement of NRAP Objective 6. 
Lack of available resource within the council prevents the council from taking actions to deliver the 
s.6 duty and so only a handful of council actions were included in the PNRAP. Most biodiversity actions 
rely on external funding being obtained and staff time to apply for funding. It is hoped that more 
external funding will become available in the future to allow Local Authorities to comply with the s.6 
duty and to help deliver the Local Nature Recovery Action Plans.   

 
12  Powys Nature Partnership, Powys Nature Recovery Action Plan (PNRAP). Available from: Powys Nature 
Recovery Action Plan - Powys County Council 

Tudalen 27



 Cyngor Sir Powys County Council - The Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty Report 2022 
 

22 
 

4. Review of s.6 duty implementation to date and next steps. 
The most significant constraint limiting the promotion and awareness of the biodiversity duty has been 
the limited capacity of officers with relevant knowledge to advise and support colleagues across 
multiple service areas. PCC employs one full-time Highways and Planning Ecologist, supported by two 
Ecological Technicians, and a Planning Ecologist. High workloads in both service areas mean there is 
extremely limited capacity to promote the duty within other service areas, particularly those with 
indirect impacts. The LNP Cymru project and Local Places for Nature Scheme allow PCC to host the 
Biodiversity Officer, but their remit is limited to delivering Local Places for Nature projects and 
supporting the Powys Nature Partnership. As a result, they do not have the capacity to support service 
areas in delivering the s.6 duty. PCC has received confirmation of Shared Prosperity funding for a new 
part-time position of Nature Recovery Officer until December 2024. This position is in direct response 
to the declaration of a Nature Emergency in Powys and should increase the capacity to consider the 
s.6 duty across the council. 

Continued training and support is essential to ensure compliance with legislation, adoption of best 
practise and confidence to take advantage of opportunities to enhance biodiversity and maintain and 
improve ecosystem resilience.  

Nevertheless, despite these limitations, the Council has made progress towards implementing the s.6 
duty into service delivery and day-to-day business. Activity is often in line with the WBFG Act well-
being goals and SMNR principles. Good practice is undertaken and there is a willingness to work 
collaboratively with other services and with partner organisations and local communities. Projects are 
undertaken which benefit biodiversity directly and indirectly. For instance, habitats and species are 
safeguarded and managed sensitively where practically possible. Powys’ residents are encouraged to 
access nature locally and improve their health and well-being through activities in well-maintained 
green spaces. Evidence is used where possible to inform decision making. Long-term management of 
sites is being put into practice. Consideration is given to use of natural solutions and sustainable 
products promoting ‘re-use, reduce and recycle’. 

Opportunities exist to conserve and enhance biodiversity and ecosystems through PCC’s major work 
programmes, such as Grow Mid-Wales. The Mid-Wales Growth Partnership’s is committed to improve 
provision of residential housing and commercial premises and utilise Powys’ high-quality natural 
environment to boost tourism, food and energy production. All potentially impact directly on 
biodiversity but also provide significant opportunities for Powys’ natural assets to support the local 
economy and enhance the health and well-being of residents and its workforce. 

The aim is for Service areas to routinely integrate biodiversity actions into service delivery by including 
actions within service IBPs, coupled with appropriate qualitative and quantitative indicators. Through 
this approach, activity to maintain and enhance biodiversity can become part of business as usual 
Service delivery.  

Tudalen 28



1 
 

CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL. 
 

CABINET EXECUTIVE 
 

For Cabinet 23rd May 2023 
 

For Health and Care Scrutiny 2nd June 2023 
 

For Governance and Audit 23rd June 2023 
 

---------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: Nina Davies, Interim Director of Social Services and 
Housing 

  
SUBJECT: Corporate Safeguarding Board Activity Update 

  
REPORT FOR: Information 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 Cabinet is asked to note this update from the Corporate Safeguarding Board.  

 
1.2 The Corporate Safeguarding Board last met on 16th March 2023; this report 
summarises the information provided at that meeting.  
 
 

2. Agenda discussions 
 

2.1 Update on Safeguarding Audits and Action Plan 
Progress was reviewed against the Action Plan developed from the 
recommendations in the Wales Audit Office Safeguarding Audit Report, 
published in December 2022.   
 
It was noted that an Action Plan was drafted, and work started ahead of 
receiving the Report. Five additional actions were proposed and accepted for 
inclusion.  
 
The Action Plan will now be built into the Regulatory Tracker and be reported 
on during Quarterly Performance Meetings and by the Governance and Audit 
Committee. 

 
2.2 Feedback from Scrutiny and Cabinet 

Feedback from Health and Care Scrutiny on 27th January 2023 and Cabinet on 
7th February 2023 was shared with the Board.  
 
Feedback from Governance and Audit Committee’s consideration of the Wales 
Audit Office Safeguarding Report, recommendations and the resultant Action 
Plan on 9th February was also considered.  

Tudalen 29

6



2 
 

The Board were advised that Governance and Audit Committee were keen to 
have sight of the Board’s Activity updates in future, as well as Cabinet and 
Scrutiny.  

 
2.3 Service Corporate Safeguarding Audit/Self Assessments  

The Board were informed that each Service area are in the process of 
completing a Safeguarding Audit as part of their Annual Self-Assessment 
Workbook.  
 
These will be considered at the Self-Assessment Panels in April and May, after 
which the information will be integrated into the Authority’s overall Self-
Assessment Report, pending review by Governance and Audit and then 
submission to Welsh Government.  
 
The Self-Audit looks at how robust the policies and practice are, how safe the 
service environment is and how safe the culture is with Red/Amber/Green RAG 
rating. 

 
2.4 Safeguarding in Contract Management 

The Board were advised that a new robust four-tiered approach to contract 
management framework is being developed, which will be supported by 
workshops and training.  
 
Research is underway looking at other Local Authorities’ approach to 
communicating expectations with their supply base and defining the safeguards 
and standards required.  When clear and finalised, this will be communicated 
to live contracts and be embedded into future tendering processes with planned 
roll out in April 2023.  
 
The new Commercial Performance and Risk Board will be monitoring the roll 
out of the new contract management approach, with performance captured on 
the commercial dashboard that is being developed to allow reporting, 
governance and scrutiny.   

 
2.5 Work Around Child Performance and Child Employment 

The Board were informed that Welsh Government had reminded Local 
Authorities in 2022 of their statutory duties in respect of this matter, which is 
rooted in 90-year-old legislation. Guidance has been updated since in respect 
of Child Performance Licences, Child Work Permits and Chaperone Licences.  
 
There is a lack of knowledge and understanding in the Authority, organisations, 
employers and the public in respect of the legislation and legal requirements. 
Applications are often made with very little notice and processing time is 
dependent on the complexity of the application and whether the full range of 
required information has been provided. 
 
Between April 2022 and January 2023, 19 individual performance licences had 
been issued, 10 Body of Persons Approvals (BoPA -approval for an 
organisation putting on a performance, rather than for the individuals taking part 

Tudalen 30



3 
 

separately), 40 employment permits and 25 chaperone applications had been 
received. 
 
The Board were informed about next steps, including strengthening cross 
departmental working, drafting a Policy involving cascade of that information 
via comms and social media, linking with community child performance groups, 
clarification of employment bylaws including determining powers to enter and 
inspect, strengthen the chaperone process by adding an annual review (in 
addition to the application, references, DBS and safeguarding training). 
 

2.6 Reports by Exception were provided as below 
 

a) Young People’s Housing (16/17 year olds):  
This report was accepted with no further questions.  
The Board were informed that a gradual reduction in homelessness is being seen, 
and there were no families in Bed and Breakfast accommodation at the time of the 
meeting.  

 
b) Elective Home Education:  
The Board were informed that numbers of electively home educated children has 
increased to more than 300. This figure is partly due to some learners not returning 
to a school setting since the pandemic and partly because some families 
registering as electively home educating due to the Resource Grant being made 
available. Numbers are expected to alter towards the summer as some learners 
reach school leaving age.  
 
The Board were advised that Welsh Government will be issuing Guidance for the 
new financial year arising from a court case, with a subtle shift from it being Powys 
County Council’s responsibility to ascertain a suitable education is in place, to its 
being the parent’s duty to evidence it is in place.  

 
c) Mandatory Safeguarding Training, including VAWDASV 
The Board were informed that compliance with mandatory Safeguarding Training 
has increased from 44.3% in July 2022 to 81.1% at the time of the meeting.  

The Board was also advised that compliance with VAWDASV training is 
improving and ahead of our regional partners. Compliance sat at 80% at the time 
the report was written for Board and had increased to 82.1% at the time of the 
meeting.  

 
d) Adult Social Care Safeguarding Performance including Deprivation of Liberty 

Safeguards.  
This report was accepted with no further questions.  
The Board were informed there is no further update from Welsh Government in 
respect of the shift from Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards to Liberty Protection 
Safeguards.  
 

 

Tudalen 31



4 
 

e) Childrens Social Services Safeguarding Performance  
The Board were informed that demand at the Front Door continues to increase, 
but child protection numbers have decreased due to intervention and support 
services.   
 
The Board discussed the type and location of the placements where the thirteen 
asylum-seeking children and young people are currently being looked after and 
how this meets their needs. The Board were informed this number is likely to 
increase and how this might be managed in terms of the Closer to Home policy, 
given these children and young people’s particular needs and placement 
availability.  

 
2.7 Future Agenda Items are currently to include 
- Programming of the newly proposed ‘Safeguarding Theme of the Month’ 
- Preparations for the annual National Safeguarding Week (in November)  
- Annual Private Fostering Report 
- Service Safeguarding Audits (from Self-Assessment) 
- Progress update regarding Safeguarding in Contract Management 
- Progress update regarding Child Performance Licences and Child 

Employment Permits 
- Feedback from National Safeguarding Week 

 
 

2.8 Other business included 
a) Information about Reporting of Damp and Mould in PCC Housing Stock.  The 

Board were advised this matter had been of national media interest, so the 
Housing Officers worked with the Tenant Scrutiny Panel to collate this 
information. (See Appendix A) 
 
 

b) Young People’s Safeguarding Animation   https://youtu.be/SpFhqUfDPaQ  
 

4. Future Corporate Safeguarding Board Meetings 
 

4.1  Future meetings are scheduled for 8th June, 15th September, 14th December 
2023 and 14th March 2024. 

 
 
Recommendation: Reason for Recommendation: 
Cabinet receives this briefing as an 
update from the Chair of the Corporate 
Safeguarding Board. 

To ensure Cabinet are fully sighted on 
work to date. 

 
Relevant Policy (ies): Corporate Safeguarding Policy 
Within Policy: Y  Within Budget: Y 

 
Relevant Local Member(s): All elected Members. 

 
Person(s) To Implement Decision: N/A 

Tudalen 32

https://youtu.be/SpFhqUfDPaQ


5 
 

Date By When Decision To Be Implemented: N/A 
 
Is a review of the impact of the decision required? 
 

 N 

If yes, date of review N/A 
 

Person responsible for the review 
 

N/A 

Date review to be presented to Portfolio Holder / 
Cabinet for information or further action 

N/A 

  
Contact Officer: Nina Davies, Interim Director of Social Services and Housing 
Tel:   01597 827683 
Email:  nina.davies@powys.gov.uk 

 
  

Tudalen 33



6 
 

          Appendix A 

For Information – to raise awareness  

- about the difference between damp and condensation,  

- of the reporting processes when damp or mould is seen during 
home visits to Powys Council house tenants.  

 

Differences between damp and condensation.  
 

Web address https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/13445/The-difference-between-damp-and-
condensation 

-------------------------------------------------- 

What to do when a tenant raises concerns about damp or mould 
 

In the first instance all concerns about damp or mould should be reported to the repairs 
service so that issues are recorded, responded to correctly and that progress can be 
tracked.  

Repairs for Council Housing should be reported via: 

 Email: powys-repairs@powys.gov.uk 
 

 Phone: 01597 827464 
 

 Ask for a council housing repair - Powys County Council 
 

With regard to private sector tenancies, the website link does give the option of reporting this 
to our Environmental Health Officers – so I would ask that in these circumstances please 
could you ask them to use this route. 

------------------------------------------------------------ 

For further clarification, please contact:  

Julie Heighway    julie.heighway@powys.gov.uk 

Resources Team Leader, Housing 

Telephone 01597 827107     Housing One No. 01597 827464 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 34

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fen.powys.gov.uk%2Farticle%2F13445%2FThe-difference-between-damp-and-condensation&data=05%7C01%7Ccatherine.collins1%40powys.gov.uk%7Ccad5fcd7635a4d54cd4408daffc2e6f0%7Cc01d9ee10eb0475499ae03ae8a732b50%7C0%7C0%7C638103509799552005%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yXEUZ5gSnoh1tzBQEAb2%2F%2BsEllR0OXJbFORmo7%2F5uWE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fen.powys.gov.uk%2Farticle%2F13445%2FThe-difference-between-damp-and-condensation&data=05%7C01%7Ccatherine.collins1%40powys.gov.uk%7Ccad5fcd7635a4d54cd4408daffc2e6f0%7Cc01d9ee10eb0475499ae03ae8a732b50%7C0%7C0%7C638103509799552005%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yXEUZ5gSnoh1tzBQEAb2%2F%2BsEllR0OXJbFORmo7%2F5uWE%3D&reserved=0
mailto:powys-repairs@powys.gov.uk
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fen.powys.gov.uk%2Fhousingrepair&data=05%7C01%7Ccatherine.collins1%40powys.gov.uk%7Ccad5fcd7635a4d54cd4408daffc2e6f0%7Cc01d9ee10eb0475499ae03ae8a732b50%7C0%7C0%7C638103509799552005%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Q%2BXi5He59QfrIgUVDvG0KAWADR2D0Tu4YK6k8syZSKM%3D&reserved=0
mailto:julie.heighway@powys.gov.uk


 9 May Cabinet Member for a 
Greener Powys 

Approved parking restrictions in Llanfair 
Road and School Lane, Newtown in 
accordance with the Local Authorities’ 
Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 1996. 
 

9 May Cabinet Member for a 
Learning Powys 

Approved an amendment to the 
Instrument of Government for Ysgol 
Cedewain. 
 

 

Tudalen 35

7



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision Date Title Portfolio Holder Lead

Decision 
Maker Scrutiny

20/06/23 Financial Forecast as at 31 March
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Jane Thomas Cabinet

20/06/23 Capital Forecast as at 31 March
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Jane Thomas Cabinet

20/06/23 Welsh Language Standards Annual Report 
Councillor Sandra 
Davies Emma Palmer Cabinet

20/06/23 Welsh Language 5 Year Strategy 
Councillor Sandra 
Davies Emma Palmer Cabinet

20/06/23 Secondary School Improvement Strategy
Councillor Pete 
Roberts Georgie Bevan Cabinet

20/06/23 Ysgol Cribarth Objection Report
Councillor Pete 
Roberts Emma Palmer Cabinet

20/06/23 The Pumphouse Newtown
Councillor Jackie 
Charlton Matt Perry Cabinet

11/07/23 Quarter 4 Treasury Management Report
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Jane Thomas Cabinet

11/07/23 Llanfyllin Catchment Review 
Councillor Pete 
Roberts Emma Palmer Cabinet

11/07/23 Director of Social Services Annual Report Nina Davies Cabinet

11/07/23 Risk Management Policy & Guidance
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Jane Thomas Cabinet Governance & Audit Committee 23 June

11/07/23 Enhanced Homeless Service Capability
Councillor Matthew 
Dorrance Andy Thompson Cabinet

11/07/23 Modular Accommodation Initiative
Councillor Matthew 
Dorrance Andy Thompson Cabinet

11/07/23 Supporting the Development of Council Housing
Councillor Matthew 
Dorrance Andy Thompson Cabinet

11/07/23 Powys Owned Care Homes Councillor Sian Cox Rachel Evans Cabinet

T
udalen 37

8



01/08/23 Annual Self-Assessment Report
Councillor James 
Gibson-watt Emma Palmer Cabinet

01/08/23 School Standards
Councillor Pete 
Roberts Georgie Bevan Cabinet

Learning and Skills Scrutiny Committee 19 
July 2023

01/08/23 Chweched Powys Sixth
Councillor David 
Selby Georgie Bevan Cabinet

Learning and Skills Scrutiny Committee 19 
July 2023

01/08/23 Curriculum for Wales
Councillor Pete 
Roberts Georgie Bevan Cabinet

Learning and Skills Scrutiny Committee 19 
July 2023

01/08/23 Annual Information Governance Report
Councillor Jake 
Berriman Helen Dolman Cabinet

01/08/23 Corporate Safeguarding Board Activity Report 
Councillor Richard 
Church Nina Davies Cabinet

01/08/23 Community Alarm Review
Councillor Matthew 
Dorrance Andy Thompson Cabinet

19/09/23 Quarter 1 Finance Report
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Jane Thomas Cabinet

19/09/23 Quarter 1 Capital Report 
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Jane Thomas Cabinet

19/09/23 Quarter 1 Treasury  Management report
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Jane Thomas Cabinet

19/09/23 Annual RIPA report Helen Dolman Cabinet

19/09/23 Quarter 1 Performance Report
Councillor James 
Gibson-watt Emma Palmer Cabinet

19/09/23 Homes in Powys Allocation Policy Update
Councillor Matthew 
Dorrance Andy Thompson Cabinet

19/09/23 Housing Quality Policy Update
Councillor Matthew 
Dorrance Andy Thompson Cabinet

19/09/23
Actions arising from the Compliance Audit of 
Housing 

Councillor Matthew 
Dorrance Andy Thompson Cabinet

10/10/23 Quarter 1 Strategic Risk Register
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Jane Thomas Cabinet

10/10/23 Customer Services Review 
Councillor Jake 
Berriman Helen Dolman Cabinet

T
udalen 38



24/10/23 Quarter 2 Finance Report
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Jane Thomas Cabinet

24/10/23 Quarter 2 Capital Report 
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Jane Thomas Cabinet

24/10/23 Quarter 2 Treasury Management report
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Jane Thomas Cabinet

21/11/23 Council Tax Base for 2024/25
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Jane Thomas Cabinet

21/11/23 Corporate Safeguarding Board Activity Report 
Councillor Richard 
Church Nina Davies Cabinet

12/12/23 Quarter 2 Strategic Risk Register
Councillor David 
Arnold Thomas Bets Ingram Cabinet

12/12/23 Sewerage Charges Policy
Councillor Matthew 
Dorrance Andy Thompson Cabinet

27/02/24 Quarter 3 Performance Report
Councillor James 
Gibson-watt Emma Palmer Cabinet

T
udalen 39



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol


	Agenda
	2 Cofnodion
	5 Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems duty, Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 - 2022 report
	CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL.
	CABINET EXECUTIVE
	1.	Purpose
	2.	Background
	3.	Advice
	3.1	It is proposed that the content of the Section 6 report at appendix A be accepted as a reflection of the work carried out by the Council in the period from 2019�2022, to maintain and enhance biodiversity. It sets out the progress made during that period, opportunities and challenges faced.
	3.1	If accepted, a summary of the report will be published on the Council website, to be accessible for the public. That will complete the actions required to meet the Council’s duty to review its Section 6 report by the end of 2022.
	3.2	The Cabinet is asked to note that the work set out in the Section 6 report contributes towards partnership delivery of the Powys Nature Recovery Action Plan and against the Council’s declaration of a Nature Emergency. The Powys Nature Recovery Action Plan is a forward looking partnership plan that has been adopted by the Council; full detail is available on the Council's website at https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/2573/Powys-Nature-Recovery-Action-Plan
	Appendix A - Powys Biodiversity Duty Implementation Report 2022

	6 Corporate Safeguarding Board Activity Report
	CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL.
	CABINET EXECUTIVE
	-	about the difference between damp and condensation,
	-	of the reporting processes when damp or mould is seen during home visits to Powys Council house tenants.
	Differences between damp and condensation.
	What to do when a tenant raises concerns about damp or mould


	7 Penderfyniadau Dirprwyedig a wnaed ers y cyfarfod diwethaf
	8 Blaenraglen Waith

